1989

Kate Greenwood; Andrew Greenwood; and Ralph Greenwood, President Of American Dog Breeders' Association, Inc. v. City of North Salt Lake : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDING

Jurisdiction is conferred upon the Utah Supreme Court to hear this appeal by Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-2-2(3)(j), 1953 as amended. This statute sets forth the Utah Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction over "orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction." The nature of this proceeding is an appeal from a final order of Second District Court, the Honorable Rodney S. Page, in and for Davis County, State of Utah. The order of that Court found North Salt Lake City's breed specific vicious dog law to be constitutionally valid. There is no grant of original appellate jurisdiction to the Court of Appeals as would be applicable to this case.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that North Salt Lake City Ordinance 13-20-16E was not vague and violative of substantive due process, as measured by constitutional standards?

II. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the North Salt Lake Ordinance does not violate constitutional standards of equal protection of the law under the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and violate Article I, Section 24 of the Constitution of the State of Utah.

III. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the

evidence established that predominant physical characteristics are determinative of breed differentiation in the species of dog?

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AMENDMENT XIV,

Section 1, [Citizenship - Due process of law - Equal protection.]

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, ARTICLE I, SECTION 24:

[Uniform operation of law.]

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January, 1987, the City Council of Defendant-Respondent, North Salt Lake (hereinafter "North Salt Lake") adopted the North Salt Lake Animal Control Ordinance, chapter 13-20-1, et seq. The ordinance was thereafter amended in August, 1987, to include the American Pit Bull Terrier as a specified breed, and as well, to include an administrative remedy provision.

On or about February 3, 1987, Kate Greenwood, Andrew Greenwood, Ralph Greenwood and American Dog Breeders Association filed suit against North Salt Lake City in response to certain

breed specific portions of the afore-mentioned animal control ordinance. The substance of the Plaintiffs-Appellants' (hereinafter "Greenwoods") claims were that the ordinance constituted a "taking" of property without due process of law, that the ordinance denied equal protection of the laws, that the ordinance was too vague and ambiguous to be enforceable, and that the ordinance bore no rational relationship to its objective, all in violation of Greenwoods' constitutional rights.

The particular language of the North Salt Lake animal control ordinance, as was made subject of this lawsuit, is as follows:

Section 13-20-1: DEFINITIONS

"22. VICIOUS ANIMAL: Any animal which is dangerously aggressive or uncontrollable, including but not limited to, any animal which has bitten or in any other manner attacked any person or animal. Any animal by its unique nature or breeding has known propensities to be aggressive towards any person or animal."

Section 13-20-16:

- "A. PREMISES, MUZZLE: It shall be unlawful for the owner of any fierce, dangerous, or vicious animal to permit such animal to go or be off the premises of the owner unless such animal is under restraint and properly muzzled as to prevent it from injuring any person or property."
- "E. HEREDITY CHARACTERISTICS: Certain breeds of dogs which by their unique hereditary characteristics, owner, training, and instruction, or mistreatment has a propensity to be vicious. These breeds include, but are not limited to, the Bull Terrier, the American Staffordshire Terrier, Staffordshire Terrier, staffordshire [sic] Bull Terrier, American Pit Bull Terrier, Tosa, Shar-pei, and any other dog determined to be vicious [determined to be vicious under subsection B]."

"F. LICENSING REQUIREMENTS: The dogs identified under this Section:

1. Must be licensed under the procedures and fee set forth in this ordinance.
2. Must be kept in a fenced yard, dog run, or other structure which is at least six feet in height, by six feet wide, by ten feet in length.
3. Must be on a leash and properly muzzled when they are out of a fenced area.
4. Must, at the time of licensing, provide proof of a fully paid homeowners or rental insurance policy containing a personal liability clause in the amount of \$100,000.
5. The insurance policy, agent and number will be recorded upon licensing, and the agent will be notified if the dog is cited for violating this chapter.
6. These requirements must be met before a dog license will be issued."

Subsequently, the matter came before the trial court in a non-jury trial, on January 12, 13, and 27, 1989. Prior to the time of trial, Ralph Greenwood passed away and his name was deleted as a party, his daughter Kate Greenwood replaced him as President of American Dog Breeders Association, which was also noted at trial. At trial of this matter, multiple witnesses were brought forward to testify on behalf of each party.

As a result of said hearings before the Court, the Honorable Rodney S. Page issued a Memorandum Decision in this case on May 8, 1989. The Court held that the ordinance provision defining a

vicious animal as "any animal by its unique nature or breed which has known propensities to be aggressive towards any person or animal", was vague and overbroad, and thus unconstitutional. The Court further concluded there was no basis in law or fact for finding that the ordinance constituted an unlawful taking. The Court then went on to find that the remainder of the ordinance was constitutionally valid as to the equal protection and due process challenges.

Pursuant to the Court's requirement, Counsel for North Salt Lake duly prepared Findings of Fact and Judgment, the final and approved copies of which were entered in the court's file on July 14, 1989. It is from these Findings of Fact (Exhibit B) and Judgment that Greenwoods now appeal.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Testimony at trial, relevant to issues herein presented, is as follows:

With regards to vagueness, as to visual identification of a breed, North Salt Lake City produced evidence that the typical animal control method of breed determination is visual observation of a particular dog. Record, Day 1, at 24. However, this same witness, who is charged with enforcement of this ordinance, is aware that on cross-breed dogs, this visual observation is only as accurate in determining specific breed make-up as to which characteristics are dominant in the animal. Record, day 1 at 34.

Other witnesses also testified as to visual observation being part of determination, but by no means an exclusive and comprehensive test. Record, day 1, at 46, 47. That is, if the particular dog fits in with the breed standard as published by any given dog registry it is somewhat helpful to determine the breed. Record, day 3, at 61.

Facts relied upon to show arbitrariness, and thus vagueness include testimony from the North Salt Lake Animal Control Director that the wording of the statute, "not limited to" would allow enforcing officers to include any dog under the umbrella of the ordinance if they wanted to. Record, day 3, at 107.

Further arbitrariness in application was testified to by a couple of witnesses with regard to factors of heredity versus factors of training as to propensity of a dog to be vicious. Such testimony clearly shows that training is the operative factor in determining a dog's behavior (i.e., propensity for viciousness). Record, day 2, 50-51, 52, 58, 62-63, 67, 74, 103; day 3, at 23, 25, 48. There is also basis for showing some tendency to be aggressive can be bred for, but only in individual dog cases, not as extending to the entire breed. Record, day 2, at 63; day 3, at 65.

Much testimony was elicited at trial regarding the only valid determination of breed is by having a dog's registration papers or pedigree charts. Record, day 1, at 151, 247; day 2 at 30; day 3, at 15. By stipulation, there is no scientific method by which the

breed of any particular dog can be determined. Record, day 1, at 44.

Finally, the only expert testimony with regards to animal behavioralism, was to effect that classification of a breed of dog as vicious based on unique hereditary characteristics is an arbitrary classification and not founded upon scientific knowledge of behavior of dogs. Record, day 2, at 71-72.

Facts relative to substantive due process fall into three (3) general areas. The first is the classification of certain breeds of dog as inherently vicious. Testimony at trial was that all dogs, regardless of breed, have a propensity to be aggressive. Record, day 2, at 47; day 3, at 62. There was no testimony that any breed of dog is inherently vicious, or has unique hereditary characteristics of a propensity to be vicious. In fact, the only testimony touching on this important concern was that of Greenwoods' animal behavioralist who testified to the effect that no breed of dog has propensity to be any more vicious than another breed of dog. Record, dog 2, at 52, 62-63. He further testified to the effect that no breed exhibits more aggressions than any other breed on a breed to breed comparison. Record, day 2, at 71.

The second general factual area relevant to substantive due process is as to the objective sought by the legislation. Testimony of a council woman brought out concerns of her constituency about dogs scaring and biting people in her

neighborhood. She sought legislation to give safety to the citizens and to preserve the neighborhood's quality of life. Record, day 2, at 129. However, on direct examination when asked whether the breeds specified in the ordinance, in her view, possessed a threat or were particularly dangerous to the citizens of North Salt Lake, she unqualifiedly answered, "No." Record, day 2, at 130.

The third general area of substantive due process relevance are factors regarding the narrow classification of the seven (7) specified breeds as inherently vicious. All records as produced by the animal control director as far as bites per dog registered with the city and actual dog bite reports are incomplete and/or inconclusive as to providing lines of demarcation between inherently vicious breeds and "other" breeds. The records of bites per dog registered is of no comparative value. Bites per breed of other dogs had not been computed to show any greater danger. Record, day 3, at 95-98. As far as dog bite incident reports, all as were brought forth at trial depicted a remarkably average-type bite for any dog -- a puncture wound. Record, day 3, at 78, 80, 85, 87.

Facts previously set forth apply to the equal protection argument hereunder. The only further fact of noteworthiness is testimony that all dogs will bite, and that is what ought to be controlled - the actual number of bites. Record, day 3, at 28-29.

Facts also previously set forth, supra, show indisputably that registration papers or pedigree charts are the only valid and reliable means of breed identification. Especially in attempting to determine cross-breeds, visual determination breaks down and is an unreliable means to determine breed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

North Salt Lake City Ordinance, Section 13-20-16E is violative of due process because it is impermissibly vague. Such vagueness arises from the ordinances' inadequate notice to the average dog-owner of an unregistered or mixed-breed dog whether the ordinance is controlling of the licensing of this type of animal. It is further vague in its failure to set up clear guidelines by which animal control officers can objectively apply the ordinance. The only factors as set forth in the ordinance involve subjective matters of ownership training or instruction and do not deal with objective matters specific to a breed of dog. The ordinance is also vague and arbitrary by its wording, "include, but are not limited to," which gives total discretion to the enforcement agency as to what dogs fall under this ordinance. Furthermore, there is not evidence showing anything remarkably unique about the ordinance-specified breeds as compared to all other breeds in North Salt Lake City as far as incidents of biting or types of wounds inflicted.

The ordinance in question does not apply equally to all persons within the class of owners of dogs. The ordinance is overbroad in that it regulates all owners of all specified breeds despite substantial evidence that a propensity for viciousness is not a breed specific trait. The ordinance is under-inclusive in regulating only a few breeds of dogs where substantial evidence shows all breeds, including mixed-breeds contain dogs that bite, and dogs that may seem to have propensity to be vicious. The ordinance undoubtedly seeks to protect public health and welfare against dog bites and attacks, but the discriminatory classifications in this ordinance do not further this objective.

The trial court made a specific finding that where registration was not available, the breed of the dog could be determined by its predominant physical characteristics. Evidence produced at trial does not substantiate this finding. Evidence at trial merely stated to the effect that if an animal fit within the characteristics of an ideal member of the breed, then its breed could be determined by visual observation of predominant physical characteristics. However, evidence further shows that many members of a breed do not fit the physically ideal standard of the breed and so cannot be classified visually.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING NORTH SALT LAKE CITY ORDINANCE, SECTION 13-20-16E, WAS NOT VAGUE AND VIOLATIVE OF SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS, AS MEASURED BY CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARDS.

A. The Ordinance is impermissibly vague. The key Supreme Court case discussing vagueness and its elements is Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104 (1972). The Court has said in Grayned, at 108-109, that:

It is a basic principle of due process that an enactment is void for vagueness if its prohibitions are not clearly defined. Vague laws offend several important values. First, because we assume that man is free to steer between lawful and unlawful conduct, we insist that laws give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he may act accordingly. Vague laws may trap the innocent by not providing fair warning. Second, if arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement is to be prevented, laws must provide explicit standards for those who apply them. A vague law impermissibly delegates basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory application. [Footnotes omitted].

Greenwoods contend that North Salt Lake's breed specific vicious dog legislation, North Salt Lake City Animal Control Ordinance, Section 13-20-16E, is lacking in terms susceptible of objective measurement as it applies to them and their dogs of unknown origins, as well as being generally vague as applied to other dog owners within the city's jurisdiction.

The basis of due process, as broken down by Grayned, supra, applies in the instant matter as follows:

1. INADEQUATE NOTICE.

In accord with the first basic principle of due process elicited from Grayned, supra Greenwoods contend that the ordinance fails to give fair and adequate notice. The ordinance, by stating

vicious dogs "include, but are not limited to" the specified breeds, does not give the average person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what breeds are actually covered by the ordinance, so that he may act accordingly to conform with the requirements.

Owners of unregistered dogs or mixed breed dogs have no means or ways of knowing whether their dog is one of the breeds listed and whether they can or should comply with licensing requirements.

Greenwoods do not question North Salt Lake's authority to take proper measures to safeguard the public from vicious animals. However, the particular methods employed by North Salt Lake must allow Greenwoods, and other citizens similarly situated, to know what is, and what is not, a vicious animal. With regard to breed registered dogs the ordinance gives some notice, but as to dogs sharing some predominant characteristics with the specified breeds the ordinance lacks clarity. North Salt Lake would have us believe that each and every dog of a breed can be identified by visual perception. However, Greenwoods, who are involved in the dog business, are aware of many purebreeds which do not conform to standards for such breeds in the sharing of predominant characteristics. This factor of uncertainty in all cases was shown forth at trial through many knowledgeable witnesses. Extrapolating from this knowledge of purebreeds, it becomes apparent that many unregistered and mixed breed dogs likely have few, if any,

predominant characteristics of the specified breeds, but under the ordinance, would still need to comply with special provisions listed therein. Conversely, owners of unregistered and mixed-breed dogs that are not of the specified breeds but have certain physical features of the specified breeds will not know whether they must comply or not. The vagueness here arises where an owner of an unregistered or mixed breed dog is not aware he has ownership of a dog falling under purview of this ordinance. Effectively, the owner does not know whether he must comply. If he does not comply and the Animal Control Department determines the ordinance is applicable; whose determination is applicable as to the effect of the ordinance, Animal Control's or the dog owner's? On one hand, the citizen owner of a mixed breed has no notice he must comply with the ordinance; on the other hand, no objective standard is set whereby the Animal Control Department can objectively determine whether the owner has or should comply.

2. ARBITRARY ENFORCEMENT.

The second element of procedural due process with respect to vagueness is that due process "requires legislatures to set reasonably clear guidelines for law enforcement officials and triers of fact in order to prevent arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." [Footnote omitted]. Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 572-573 (1974).

The Supreme Court set forth the standard, in Baggett v. Bullitt, 377 U.S. 360, 366-367 (1964), for invalidating a state statute because of vagueness:

because . . . [the statutory provision] was lacking in "terms susceptible of objective measurement" and failed to inform as to what the State commanded or forbade. The statute therefore fell within the compass of those decisions of the Court holding that a law forbidding or requiring conduct in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates due process of law. [Citations omitted].

North Salt Lake's ordinance is not set up around reasonably clear guidelines, by which animal control enforcement officers, the City Manager, or triers of fact can objectively determine the extent and applications of the ordinance.

The ordinance allows for unlimited induction of any breed of dog under the purview of the ordinance as was testified to by North Salt Lake's Animal Control Director. Further, Greenwoods contend and evidence at trial has shown that there are no objective guidelines or standards for determining a hereditary characteristic of propensity for viciousness. A propensity for viciousness mostly is determined by training, a very subjective factor not related to breed at all. There are also no objective legislated guidelines for determining breeds of dogs. The only dogs and dog owners which this law can be enforced against, in an objective manner, absent the requirement of constitutional equal protection and the requirement of delineating of properly legislated classifications,

would be registered dogs of a specified breed certain, on which dog the animal control department and the dog owner had the registration papers. The registration papers, evincing a dog's genealogy, are the only reasonably accurate means of determining a particular dog's breed membership. No other methods, observations, or perceptions exist whereby breed can, accurately and without great subjectivity, be determined.

In Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 (1972), the Supreme Court of the United States found a city vagrancy ordinance void for vagueness in commenting that:

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