1989

Kate Greenwood; Andrew Greenwood; and Ralph Greenwood, President Of American Dog Breeders' Association, Inc. v. City of North Salt Lake : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Clause claims are frivolous on this record." Id. 197-98.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE NORTH SALT LAKE
ORDINANCE, SECTION 13-20-16E WAS NOT VAGUE NOR
VIOLATIVE OF THE GREENWOOD'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS
RIGHTS, AS MEASURED BY CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARDS

The Greenwood's claim that the trial court committed reversible error because the language of the North Salt Lake ordinance is too vague and ambiguous to meet constitutional muster is without merit. Greenwoods argue that the trial court was wrong in not making a finding that the ordinance was too vague and violated their substantive due process rights. Despite overwhelming evidence at trial to the contrary, they claim that it is impossible for dog owners or law enforcement officers to readily determine the breeds of dogs specified in the ordinance. (See Appellant's Brief at 11-14).

Before the court ever gets to that question, however, they must first determine if the ordinance will significantly compromise any First Amendment protections. As stated in 16 C.J.S. Constitutional Law, Section 66:

"Where a statute or regulation is clear as applied to him, he cannot challenge the statute on the ground that it is vague as applied to others, at least in the absence of a regulation of a First Amendment freedom. The First Amendment vagueness doctrine cannot be invoked by a party who is within the hard core prohibitions of an otherwise valid statute or regulation whose outer limit may be vague as to others." Emphasis added.

Where no fundamental or First Amendment rights are

involved, the appellant cannot raise the issue of vagueness as it applies to others. The Greenwoods attack the North Salt Lake ordinance on the ground that the ordinance is vague as applied to themselves and other persons similarly situated. "In order to challenge a statute for vagueness, a litigant must show that the statute is vague as applied to his conduct,...[W]here a statute or regulation is clear as applied to him, he cannot challenge the statute on the grounds that it is vague as applied to others,..." 16 C.J.S. Constitutional Law, Section 66b, at 179-80 (1985).

Where no fundamental constitutional or First Amendment rights are involved, to succeed, the appellant must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. Village of Hoffman Estates vs. Flipside, Hoffman Estate, 102 S.Ct. 1186 (1982). Therein it was stated:

"In a facial challenge to the overbreadth and vagueness of a law, a court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of Constitutionally protected conduct. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail. The Court should then examine the facial vagueness challenge, and assuming the enactment implicates no constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications." (p.1191) (Emphasis supplied).

See also, State v. Hoffman, 733 P.2d 502 (Utah 1987).

The Greenwoods apparently make no claim that their First Amendment rights have been affected by the North Salt Lake ordinance, hence their assertion that the ordinance is

overbroad must fail. The standard of review then focuses on whether the language of the ordinance is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. Id.

1. ADEQUATE NOTICE

The Greenwoods cite the U.S. Supreme Court case of Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104 (1972), as support for their claim that the North Salt Lake ordinance is vague and violative of their substantive due process rights. (Appellant's brief at 11).

The Grayned, supra, case involved a challenge to the Rockford City ordinance which made it unlawful to willfully make a noise that disturbs or tends to disturb the peace and good order of a school session. Grayned, who was a participant in a public demonstration outside a Rockford High School was charged with violating the Rockford noise ordinance. He argued that his First Amendment rights had been violated, and that the ordinance was vague and deprived him of his substantive due process rights. The Court, even after applying the strict scrutiny for First Amendment claims, held that the ordinance was not invalid. 408 U.S. at 121.

In the case at bar, Greenwoods argue that the North Salt Lake ordinance fails to provide the average person of ordinary intelligence fair and adequate notice of what breeds are covered by the ordinance. (Appellant's brief at p. 12). However, the ordinance specifically enumerates at Section 13-

20-16E the Bull Terrier, the American Staffordshire Terrier, Staffordshire Terrier, Staffordshire Bull Terrier, American Pit Bull Terrier, Tosa, Shar-pei, and any other dog determined to be vicious under subsection B. (North Salt Lake Ordinances, Section 13-20-16E). The trial court below made a specific finding that the Bull Terrier, the American Staffordshire Terrier, Staffordshire Terrier, Staffordshire Bull Terrier, American Pit Bull Terrier, (generically referred to as "pit bulls") "manifest unique physical characteristics of the breed generally so that they are easily discernible from other breeds." (Findings at p. 3, para. 14). Obviously, if a dog is not registered as one of the above breeds, and if it does not manifest the predominate physical characteristics of the named breeds, it would not be subject to the ordinance.

Greenwoods also argue that the language of Section 13-20-16E which imposes six additional safeguards on dogs deemed to be "vicious", and which reads "These breeds include, but are not limited to...", fails to give the reasonable person notice if his dog is contemplated by the ordinance. (Appellant's brief at 12). Unfortunately, they have overlooked the fact that Section 13-20-16E refers to Section 13-20-16B which defines "Uncontrollable Vicious Animal", and by reference makes such animals subject to the provisions of Section 13-20-16E. Inasmuch as there could be breeds of dogs deemed vicious under 13-20-16B, different than

those specifically listed in 13-20-16E, the language "not limited to" is clear on its face.

2. ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDY

In their brief, the Greenwoods totally ignore the fact that the North Salt Lake ordinance also makes provision for an administrative remedy for any person aggrieved by its application. Section 13-20-31.1 states as follows:

ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDY: Any person required to license any animal under the provisions of this ordinance, or any person who is or may be subject to the enforcement of any provision of this ordinance in a civil or criminal proceeding who disagrees with the interpretation or application of any provision of this ordinance shall make a written request to the city manager to determine whether and how the provisions of this ordinance apply to him or her and to the animals subject to the provisions of this ordinance. During the time that the written request is being considered by the city manager, no criminal action shall be enforced under this ordinance against the person that has made the request. The city manager shall rule on the request within five days after it is received by the city manager. The decision of the city manager shall advise the recipient of whether and how the provisions of this ordinance applies to the request, and if any provision applies, the decision shall inform the recipient of how many days the person has to comply with the ordinance before the ordinance will be enforced against him or her and the animal which may be affected by the ordinance. If any person affected by the provisions of this ordinance takes position that his or her animal is not within the classifications established by this ordinance, he or she shall make a written request to the city manager under this section. The city manager may appoint an expert to advise him on matters requiring special knowledge. Where an expert is required to advise the city manager, the city manager may delay his decision until he has received the recommendation of the expert. Nothing in this ordinance requires the city to dismiss any criminal or civil action brought by the city pending his decision.

The effect of this provision is to allow any person who may be concerned about the application of the ordinance to him or her, an additional forum for review and protection.

3. ENFORCEMENT

The Greenwoods further claim that law enforcement officers and those administering the ordinance are unable to determine the extent and application of the ordinance. (Appellant's brief at 14). They go so far as to state in their brief that:

"The registration papers, evincing a dog's genealogy, are the only reasonably accurate means of determining a particular dog's breed membership. No other methods, observations, or perceptions exist whereby breed can, accurately and without great subjectivity, be determined." (Appellant's brief at 15).

At the trial of this matter, witnesses on both sides of the case testified over and over again that a dog's breed membership was determined by the visual observation of its predominate physical characteristics. (Record, Day 1, pp. 238-240; Record, Day 1, p.51. lines 5-25 and p.52, line 1-2; Record, Day 1, p. 24, lines 2-11; Record, Day 1, p. 60, lines 14-21; Record, Day 1, p. 213-218; Record, Day 1, p. 232, lines 6-25 and p. 233, lines 1-12; Record, Day 3, p. 61, lines 10-25 and p. 62, lines 1-14).

North Salt Lake Animal Control Officer Jeff Tingey, at the first day of the trial, testified that given the opportunity to visually observe any dog, he could determine

the predominate breed of that dog. (Record, Day 1, p.22, lines 8-11, 21-25; Record, Day 1, p.23, lines 19-25, and p.24, line 1). Animal control officers further testified that visual observation of the predominate physical characteristics of a dog was typically how breeds of dogs are identified in animal control, and that enforcement of the North Salt Lake ordinance would not pose a problem to them. (Record, Day 1, p. 24, lines 2-11; Record, Day 3, p. 11, lines 11-16).

The appellate court, in determining constitutionally where vagueness is alleged, is obligated to construe the ordinance in a manner that will avoid an unconstitutional infirmity, if possible. People vs. Ortiz, 479 N.Y.2d 613 (1986).

In the Ortiz, supra, case the court stated that:

"The Constitution only requires reasonable precision from the legislative drafting; it does not impose impossible standards. Ordinary terminology may be used to express idea that find adequate interpretation in common usage and understanding. If the general class of offenses to which the statute is directed is plain within its terms, the statute will not be struck down as vague even though marginal cases may be put where doubt might arise."

Id. at 613.

The evidence adduced at trial clearly supports the trial court's finding that the language of the ordinance was such that the person of ordinary and common intelligence would know whether or not his breed of dog was subject

thereto. The evidence also supported the court's finding that the breed of a dog is determined by registration or its predominate physical characteristics, and that the "pit bull" breeds of dogs possessed certain unique characteristics which make them discernible from other breeds.

Based upon the evidence, the court determined that the North Salt Lake ordinance, Section 13-20-16E was not vague, and that appellant's substantive due process rights had not be violated. That finding and judgment is supported by the evidence and the applicable caselaw and should be upheld.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT
THE NORTH SALT LAKE ORDINANCE DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EQUAL
PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE U.S.
CONSTITUTION, IS NOT VIOLATIVE OF ARTICLE I,
SECTION 24 OF THE UTAH STATE CONSTITUTION, AND THAT
ITS ENACTMENT WAS A VALID EXERCISE OF THE CITY'S POLICE POWER

The Greenwoods have raised on appeal, the question as to whether the North Salt Lake ordinance is a valid exercise of police power under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 24 of the Utah State Constitution. (Appellant's brief at 21). Police power includes all laws, restraining or prohibiting, anything harmful to the welfare of the public. State v. Hoffman, supra; Kalodimos vs. Morton Grove, 470 N.E.2d 266 (Ill. 1984).

The enactment of North Salt Lake's ordinance by its

governing body was an exercise of the City's police power. It is well settled that an exercise of police power which has the effect of depriving a person of property will be valid if it bears a real and substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. Peck v. Dunn, 574 P.2d 367 (Utah 1978); City of Lyons v. Suttle, 209 Kan. 735, 498 P.2d 9 (1972).

It is also well established in Utah that the constitutionality of a statute or ordinance is presumed, and that the burden is upon one attacking its validity to clearly show that it violates the Constitution. Provo City Corp. v. Willden, 768 P.2d 455, 458 (1989); Salt Lake City Corporation v. Savage, 541 P.2d 1035, cert. denied, 96 S.Ct. 1514, 425 U.S. 915 (Utah 1975). Thus, an ordinance passed pursuant to a city's police power will be held invalid only if it bears no real and substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. In Grigsby v. Mitchum, 380 P.2d 363 (1963), it was held:

Whether an exercise of the police power does bear a real and substantial relation to the public health, basic morals or general welfare of the public, and whether it is unreasonable or arbitrary are questions which are committed in the first instance to the judgment and discretion of the legislative body, and unless the decisions of such legislative body on those questions appear to be clearly erroneous, the court will not invalidate them.

Id. at 365.

In the present appeal, the appellants claim that the ordinance in question is arbitrary and capricious because

it selects for regulation certain breeds of animal. There is no merit to such a contention, however. In City of Warren v. Testa, 461 N.E.2d 1354 (Ohio Com. Pl. 1983) the court addressed a similar issue with respect to an ordinance which prohibited the keeping and harboring of lions within the City of Warren. The Court stated:

It is a fact that other animals or various species have the ability to bite and do harm . . . a fact confirmed by witnesses on both sides of the case. The Defendant's claim of selectivity of the ordinance fails in view of the long established principle of law that a legislative authority has the right to legislate out nuisances as they are called to said legislative authority's attention. Perhaps the lion could argue the principle of selectivity; however, certainly the City Council has the right to legislate here, supplement later, and address each so called "nuisance" as it arises.

Id. 461 N.E.2d at 1357.

The governing body of the City of North Salt Lake determined that the breeds of dogs commonly known as the "pit bull", the shar-pei, and the tosa, pose such an immediate and serious threat to the public health, safety and welfare, that an ordinance regulating their possession was necessary to protect the citizens of North Salt Lake. Though it may be true that other breeds of dogs, as well as other species of animals, not currently prohibited from being kept or otherwise regulated within the City of North Salt Lake's limits are also dangerous, the governing body of North Salt Lake obviously felt that the breeds of dogs named in the ordinance pose a greater and more immediate threat of harm to the public health, safety and welfare than such other

animals. There is certainly no Constitutional requirement that a city must regulate all breeds or none at all. Starkey v. Township of Chester, supra, 628 F.2d at 197.

The minimal showing of relation to the public welfare necessary to uphold the constitutionality of a legislative enactment is illustrated by the decision in Quilici vs. Village of Morton Grove, 695 Fed.2d 261 (1982), where the Court upheld an ordinance totally banning handguns within the borders of the Village, stating that:

"...there is at least some empirical evidence that gun control legislation may reduce the number of deaths and accidents caused by handguns. This evidence is sufficient to sustain the conclusion that Ordinance No. 81-11 is not wholly arbitrary not completely unsupported by any set of facts. Accordingly, we decline to consider Plaintiff's argument that Ordinance No. 81-11 will not make Morton Grove a safer more peaceful place."

This celebrated decision is a significant and persuasive illustration of the broad scope of the police power of a municipality as it pertains to instrumentalities with potential to do harm. Further, the Starkey, supra, case held "The township does not have to regulate every dangerous animal at the same time in the same manner to pass constitutional muster." 628 F.Supp. at 197 (E.D.Pa. 1986)

The court in Starkey, supra, said that "The township could reasonably determine, as it did, that pit bulls are dangerous. The Township's Health Officer testified that the regulation was necessary in this densely populated Township the pit bull bites to kill without signal." Id. 628

F.Supp. at 197.

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